ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES ROSE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002750

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

DEC 18 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in admitting telephone calls purportedly made by Appellant while in pre-trial incarceration because Appellant made no “admissions” during the calls as required by the Rules of Evidence in order to be admissible.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder on June 11, 2012 (2012-GS-10-3312). R. 514. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Stephanie McDonald and a jury on December 9-12, 2013. Jennifer Shealy and Jessica Baldwin represented the state. Martha Kent Runey and Megan Ehrlich represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 508, lines 19-23. Judge McDonald sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 509, line 14; R. 516.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 23, 2012, Appellant went to the deceased's home twice to buy marijuana. R. 13, lines 7-8; R. 39, lines 6-10; R. 41, lines 2-3; R. 97, line 11 – R. 98, line 4; R. 212, line 19 – R. 213, line 24; R. 407, lines 3-25. Tawana "Nikki" Alston, the deceased's girlfriend, and Antoine "Rick Ross" Aiken, the deceased's cousin, claimed Appellant returned for a third time later that night. R. 43, lines 14-18; R. 98, lines 5-10. According to Alston and Aiken, Appellant arrived in a gray, silver, or white four-door sedan – later described as a Dodge Neon – with two or three other people. R. 44, line 2 – R. 46, line 6; R. 101, lines 19-24; R. 111, lines 13-22.

Aiken claimed Appellant talked to the deceased for five minutes, and then left. R. 47, lines 15-17. Alston said Appellant walked out behind her. R. 100, lines 20-23. When Alston finished smoking a cigarette and turned around on the porch to re-enter the home, a person dressed in all black wearing a mask pointed a shotgun in her face. R. 101, lines 3-14. Another man ran past them shooting into the house. R. 102, lines 2-6. Alston claimed she fell over the porch banister, crawled under the porch, and ran across the street for help. R. 102, line 18 – R. 104, line 21. Initially, Alston told police that Appellant had a gun, but during her testimony, she admitted this was not true. R. 114, line 20 – R. 116, line 18; R. 119, line 21 – R. 120, line 23. Additionally, in her second statement to police, Alston identified two other people by name as being involved, but the police developed no evidence to support Alston's contentions. R. 124, lines 12-19.

Aiken, who remained in the home when Appellant and Alston walked outside, claimed the deceased got up to lock the door upon Appellant's departure. When the deceased turned a corner in the house, Aiken heard a gunshot and saw a tall masked man

wearing all black. R. 48, line 13 – R. 49, line 12. Aiken immediately ran out the front door and into the woods. R. 50, lines 18-19; R. 51, lines 15-17. From the woods, Aiken claimed he heard Appellant yell “it’s in the back room” and “hurry up.” R. 51, line 24 – R. 52, line 25. Further, Aiken claimed he saw the tall masked man leave the home and enter the car with Appellant in the driver’s seat. R. 54, line 9 – R. 55, line 4.

Aiken then entered the home where he found the deceased injured. R. 55, line 14 – R. 56, line 1. Although Aiken called 911 for help, he inexplicably used a false name. R. 56, lines 3-16. During Aiken’s first interview with police, he did not identify Appellant as being involved. However, after he had returned home and talked to others, he identified Appellant to police in a second statement. At trial, Aiken claimed he did not tell the police about Appellant’s alleged involvement because he wanted to exact justice personally. R. 60, line 9 – R. 61, line 1; R. 61, line 14 – R. 63, line 10.

Joy Mills, the deceased’s daughter, was present in the home during the shooting incident. She was in her bedroom talking on the phone when she heard scuffling and gunshots. R. 217, lines 9-14. She then saw two people run past her room and kick in the door of a back bedroom. R. 217, line 22 – R. 218, line 10. Mills claimed the two people wearing masks then entered her room with two shotguns. She further claimed that she recognized Appellant’s voice coming from one of the armed masked men. R. 219, line 24 – R. 220, line 16. However, Mills’ statement to police failed to identify the voice as belonging to Appellant. R. 226, lines 21-25.

At his trial, Appellant admitted to visiting the deceased twice on January 23, 2012 to buy marijuana. R. 407, lines 3-25. He further admitted that he was unhappy with the price the deceased wanted for the subpar marijuana he was offering. R. 410, lines 5-10.

Appellant left the deceased's residence, accompanied by Clarence Hush and Brandon Cantrell. R. 411, lines 3-17. Appellant arrived at his home, watched television, and then went to bed. R. 414, lines 5-8. He emphatically and unequivocally denied shooting the deceased. R. 427, line 20 – R. 428, line 1.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in admitting telephone calls purportedly made by Appellant while in pre-trial incarceration because Appellant made no “admissions” during the calls as required by the Rules of Evidence in order to be admissible.

### **Relevant facts**

During the course of the trial, defense counsel learned the prosecution intended to offer into evidence during its case-in-chief recordings of phone calls purportedly made by Appellant during his pre-trial incarceration. Defense counsel objected based on Rule 804(b)(3) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Specifically, defense counsel argued the statements allegedly made by Appellant were not statements against interest, that the recording was unclear regarding the subject matter, and the recipient of the call was unclear. The phone call concerned Appellant’s attempt to contact his girlfriend about a phone the two shared and Appellant’s concern that his girlfriend had left the phone in a car, which was seized by the police. R. 164, line 22 – R. 165, line 14. A phone had been found in the seized car, but the police were unable to establish the ownership of the phone. R. 166, lines 5-7. The prosecutors countered that the “jail call” tied Appellant to the car, which was seized by the police and fit the description of the car driven by the suspects to and from the murder. R. 167, lines 4-12. The judge took the matter under advisement to determine if the statement was “so far contrary to the defendant’s pecuniary interest other than the fact that he references DNA that it would come within [Rule] 804(b)(3)[, SCRE].” R. 168, lines 1-10.

Then, the prosecutor cited Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE to support admission of the jail call. R. 169, lines 22-25. The judge was particularly concerned with the reference to DNA

on the jail call. Defense counsel explained that Appellant said “they’ve taken that girl’s car, they think they’re going to find my DNA in that car.” Clearly, Appellant was not concerned that his DNA would be found in the car; rather, he was speculating as to why the police had seized the car. R. 171, lines 1-3. Again, the judge R. 170. 320, lines 1-17.

After the prosecution presented additional evidence, the judge revisited the issue of the jail call. Defense counsel renewed the objection to the jail call. Specifically, defense counsel noted that in the call Appellant did not state that he thought his DNA was in the car; rather, Appellant speculated that the purpose of police seizing the car was to search for DNA. Concerning the phone, defense counsel explained that Appellant’s statements were not admissions. In fact, Appellant stated that the phone that he was using was in the car, but never stated that the phone he was using on the night of the murder was in the car or that he was the person who placed the phone in the car. R. 386, line 6 – R. 387, line 11.

The prosecutor countered that the jail call was an admission by a party opponent. According to the prosecutor, “He states not only is he concerned that DNA may be in the car that the police recovered, but he is also concerned about a phone that he was using, his phone. And then he backs off and says well the phone I was using.” R. 387, lines 13-18. The prosecutor described the seized car as “a silver or gray, depending on how you describe it, Neon.” Then, the prosecutor attempted to connect the seized car with the one used in the murder by stating that “[w]itnesses described a silver or gray sedan or silver or gray Neon coming to the scene.” Further, the prosecutor noted that “[o]ne witness described the defendant getting into that car and leaving after the shooting in that same car.” R. 387, line 19 – R. 388, line 2.

In ruling on the motion, Judge McDonald noted that the caption for Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE is “admission by a party opponent,” “but what the rule actually says is the statement is offered against a party and is – and this subject is Subsection A – the parties own statement in either an individual or represented capacity.” After concluding the statement was Petitioner’s own statement, the judge ruled the jail call was admissible pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(a). R. 388, lines 3-12.

Antoine Aiken, who was present at the home when the deceased was shot, claimed that Appellant arrived at the deceased’s home for a third time on January 23, 2012. Appellant was in a “four-door, midsize sedan.” R. 44, lines 7-9. Later, he described the car as “either a gray or white Neon.” R. 45, lines 19-22. After the shooting, Aiken claimed Appellant got into the driver’s side of the car. R. 54, line 23 – R. 55, line 4. Tawana Alston was also present at the home when the deceased was shot. She claimed that Appellant left the house as she walked onto the porch to smoke. R. 100, lines 6-23. She saw Appellant get into a “gray - - a silver Neon, four-door” just as someone placed a gun in her face. R. 101, lines 3-24; R. 111, line 13-22. Notably, neither Aiken nor Alston identified the car seized near Appellant’s home as the car involved in the murder.

Although James Perkins, a Charleston County Sheriff’s Office detective, was not present when Appellant was arrested, he testified that a gray Dodge Neon was located in front of Appellant’s home.<sup>1</sup> R. 253, lines 6-21. Perkins admitted the car belonged to

---

<sup>1</sup> Brandon Cantrell, who lived near Appellant and Appellant’s girlfriend, identified a photograph of the seized car as belonging to Appellant’s girlfriend. R. 174, line 24 – R. 175, line 1. The testimony revealed Cantrell was simply wrong in his testimony that the seized car belonged to Appellant’s girlfriend. At least two police officers and Appellant testified that the car belonged to Everlina Bickman. R. 269, lines 17-25; R. 294, line 24 – R. 295, line 4; R. 416, lines 12-16.

Everlina Bickman, who was friends with Appellant's girlfriend, Amber Wiley. R. 269, lines 17-25. The police searched the Dodge Neon found near Appellant's home for evidence, but found none connecting Appellant to the car or connecting the car to the murder. R. 293, line 9 – R. 296, line 14; R. 301, line 15 – R. 307, line 25; R. 361, line 11 – R. 363, line 5. In the Dodge Neon, the police found two cell phones in the front passenger interior door compartment. R. 316, lines 14-23.

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, the prosecution played the three-minute jail call purportedly made by Petitioner. Defense counsel renewed the objection, which was overruled. R. 392, line 22 – R. 393, line 21.

Appellant testified in his defense. Appellant explained that on January 24, 2012, he and his girlfriend attended an eviction hearing because they were being evicted. R. 414, lines 18-20. After the hearing, the two returned home. R. 415, lines 8-9. Thereafter, Appellant stayed home while his girlfriend met with her probation agent. Neither Appellant nor his girlfriend had a car; therefore, his girlfriend got a ride from her friend, Everlina "Lena" Bickman, who drove a silver Dodge Neon. R. 415, line 9 – R. 416, line 16. While the police were arresting Appellant on January 24, 2012, his girlfriend and Bickman returned in Bickman's car. When the police saw Bickman's car, they seized it. R. 422, lines 9-11. After Appellant arrived at the jail, he tried to reach his girlfriend by phone. R. 425, lines 14-15. Appellant explained to the jury that when he referred to the phone he shared as being in the car seized by the police on the jail call, he was referring to the phone he shared with his girlfriend and his belief that she had left the phone in the car when it was seized by police. R. 426, line 13 – R. 427, line 16. Appellant denied ever being inside the silver Dodge Neon. R. 454, lines 14-18.

During her closing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly used the seized Dodge Neon, which had no connection to the murder or to Petitioner, and Petitioner's jail call in an effort to bolster the state's case. One of the first things the prosecutor mentioned to the jury was that Aiken told the 911 operator that the perpetrators left in a gray car, and there was no way for Aiken to know Petitioner was associated with a gray car. R. 475, lines 5-14. Again, the solicitor tried to connect the two by recounting Aiken's testimony that he claimed he saw Petitioner "in the driver's seat of a gray Neon, the same description that Brandon Cantrell gives of his girlfriend's car." R. 485, lines 20-22. The prosecutor attacked the defense argument regarding the car: "And ladies and gentlemen, I don't know if [defense counsel] or [Petitioner] want us to believe that of all the coincidences in the world that there just happens to be a gray four-door Neon parked outside his trailer. Come on." R. 491, lines 2-5.

Then, the solicitor used the jail call. In the call, Appellant asked how his girlfriend, Amber Wiley, sounded when the unidentified person on the other end of the call spoke to Amber the previous day. Appellant noted that Amber has not answered his calls and he "guess[es] they're thinking I ain't never going to get out." The solicitor used that statement argue: "Well, they would because they know what you have done." When Appellant stated he only wanted to speak to Amber, the solicitor argued "He's wondering are they talking, are they telling." She then quoted Appellant as saying the following, "They took that girl's car and saying I got DNA in there I guess, and my phone is inside that shit; well, not my phone but the phone I was using inside there." The solicitor claimed this statement put Appellant inside the car: "[Defense counsel] said they can't tell you whose phone was

inside the car. [Petitioner] told us, the phone he was using is inside the car.” The solicitor then played the tape. R. 491, line 12 – R. 492, line 10.

## **Discussion**

South Carolina imposes a system of rules to afford litigants and criminal defendants a fair judicial system. The Rules of Evidence govern how the parties present evidence and the admissibility of evidence in general. The Rules of Evidence have been designed to eliminate the introduction of unreliable evidence. One of the most unreliable forms of evidence is hearsay. The Rules strictly forbid the introduction of hearsay unless certain exceptions apply due to the clear unreliability of such evidence. See Rule 802, SCRE. Hearsay “is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. However, the Rules provide that admissions by a party-opponent are not hearsay. Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE. In addition to being an admission by a party-opponent, the statement must be offered against a party and is the party’s own statement in either an individual or a representative capacity. Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE.

In a concurring opinion in City of Easley v. Portman, 327 S.C. 593, 607, 490 S.E.2d 613, 620-621 (Ct. App. 1997)(Anderson, J. concurring), the Honorable Ralph King Anderson explained the difference between a confession and an admission, and in doing so provided a definition of “admission” helpful to the analysis of Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE.<sup>2</sup> Looking to Black’s Law Dictionary, Judge Anderson defined admission as “statements by a party ... of the existence of a fact which is relevant to the cause of his adversary.” Id. at

---

<sup>2</sup> The case concerned a statement or admission against interest, which is governed by Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE. However, the analysis is helpful at least as far as the definition of “admission” is concerned for determining the contours of Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE.

607, 490 S.E.2d at 621 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 296 (1990)). Further, Black's defined an admission as "acknowledgment of a fact or facts tending to prove guilt which falls short of an acknowledgment of all essential elements of the crime." Id. (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 297 (1990)). He went on to describe an admission as "the avowal or acknowledgement of a fact or circumstances from which guilt may be inferred, only tending to prove the offense charged, but not amounting to a confession of guilt." Id. (citing Pressley v. State, 39 S.E.2d 478 (Ga. 1946)).

Very little law exists in South Carolina analyzing Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE. However, at least two cases from our Supreme Court address the applicability of Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE to criminal cases and shed some light on the issue presented.

In State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 150, 508 S.E.2d 857, 865 (1998), the South Carolina Supreme Court held a defendant's statement to a second person that his mother owed a lot of people money and that killing his stepfather would allow his mother to collect \$260,000 from his stepfather's life insurance policies, of which his mother was going to loan him \$100,000 to start a business, was an admission by a party-opponent under Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE. In arriving at this conclusion, the Court noted that although the prosecution is not required to prove motive in a homicide prosecution, the prosecution may introduce evidence that a defendant carried an insurance policy on a victim's life where there is some showing that the defendant would derive some benefit from the proceeds of the policy based on South Carolina's case law. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court noted in a footnote that a statement by a defendant to a third person in reference to the deceased, "If I don't kill this n[...] tonight he will be on my list," was admissible under Rule

801(d)(2)(A) as an admission by a party opponent. State v. Gilchrist, 342 S.C. 369, 373 n.3, 536 S.E.2d 868, 870 n.3 (2000).