ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_  
DEC 30 2014  
S.C. COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMES ROSE,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-002750

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM  
Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly admitted the Appellant's recorded phone call under Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE, because the Appellant's own out-of-court statements are being offered by the State against the Appellant, placing the call squarely within the definition of non-hearsay.**

### *Proffer and Ruling*

At trial, the State's case depended upon circumstantial evidence. The State sought to introduce the Appellant's jailhouse phone call because it tied the Appellant to the gray Neon, which is the same car witnesses testified to seeing outside of the victim's home during the incident, the same car witnesses testified to seeing the Appellant drive away after the murder, and the same car seized from his girlfriend's home, where the Appellant lived. (R. p. 167, lines 4-25). The call's context also tied the Appellant to a phone he used, and a phone was found inside the gray Neon upon its seizure. (R. p. 171, lines 1-9). Defense counsel postured the call should not be admitted because the Appellant's trying to find his girlfriend was irrelevant and because the call was unclear in regards to its context and as to whom the Appellant was speaking. (R. p. 165, lines 5-25).

The trial court took the matter under advisement. (R. p. 168). When it came time for the State to introduce the phone call at trial, Defense counsel renewed its objection pursuant to Rule 801(b)(3), SCRE, stating its position "that this is not an admission. He is in jail. He is trying to find his girlfriend. And he is having whoever he is talking to try to track her down." (R. p. 387, lines 7-11). The State proffered that the call goes towards evidence of guilt and is "an admission by a party opponent. He states not only is he concerned that DNA may be in the car that the police recovered, but he is also concerned about a phone that he was using, his phone. And then he backs off and says well the

phone I was using.” (R. p. 387, line 13 – p. 388, line 2). The State expounded by connecting the phone call to its theory of the case by stating why the phone call constitutes evidence of the Appellant’s guilt. A phone was found in the car seized by law enforcement. (R. p. 397, lines 19-22). That car’s seizure resulted from witnesses identifying it as the car present at the scene on the night of the murder. (R. p. 387, line 23 – p. 388, line 2). The Court admitted the call into evidence under Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE, defining the rule as applying to a party’s “own statement in either an individual or represented capacity. Well, the statement about the phone and [‘]not my phone but the phone I was using that night[’] is the defendant's own statement.” (R. p. 388, lines 3-12). “That is what the rule is. It isn’t hearsay.” (R. p. 235, lines 19-20).<sup>4</sup>

#### *Standard of Review*

“Decisions regarding the admissibility of evidence are within the trial court’s sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a prejudicial abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Blurton*, 342 S.C. 500, 507, 537 S.E.2d 291, 295 (Ct. App. 2000) (rev’d on other grounds, 352 S.C. 203, 573 S.E.2d 802 (2002)).

---

<sup>4</sup> The Court also admits the call into evidence under Rule 803(6), SCRE, as the jail recorded was conducted as a business activity, and under Rule 403, SCRE, as relevant to the Defendant’s presence in the Dodge Neon. The Court went further in its ruling, *sua sponte* admitting the call based upon its context:

there are arguments that have been made regarding using jail phone calls and the context of the call. Ms. Runey did mention the context. And I understand it that's that full telephone call, correct? I mean the jail calls are usually limited to 15 minutes. But that one hung up a little over three. So I'm not sure that there was any other conversation which could context it. And quite frankly, I'm not sure that the folks talking wanted anybody to be able to figure out the context. So I'm going to allow it.

(R. p. 388, line 13 – p. 389, line 7; R. p. 393, lines 2-4).

**A. The context of the phone call constitutes circumstantial evidence placing the Appellant at the scene of the crime and, therefore, is a statement against his own interest meeting the non-hearsay definition of an admission by party-opponent.**

An out of court statement by a party is not hearsay when that statement is offered at trial against that party. Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE.<sup>5</sup> An admission by a party-opponent is a statement by a party “of the existence of a fact which is relevant to the cause of his adversary.” *City of Easley v. Portman*, 327 S.C. 593, 607, 490 S.E.2d 613, 621 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting *Black’s Law Dictionary* 296 (1990)). An admission by a party need not be a confession in order to be admissible. *See Id.; Pressley v. State*, 201 Ga. 267, 39 S.E.2d 478 (1946). An admission is merely a party’s own incriminating statement. Any such statement from which the jury may reasonably infer any fact tending towards the defendant’s guilt or innocence is relevant, is admissible, and is not hearsay. *See* Rules 403, 801(d)(2), SCRE.

Rule 801(d)(2) has been consistently applied. A defendant’s incriminating statement is admissible at trial through the witness to whom that statement was related. *See State v. Gilchrist*, 342 S.C. 369, 372-73 n.3, 536 S.E.2d 868, 870 n.3 (2000); *State v. Good*, 308 S.C. 313, 315, 417 S.E.2d 643, 644 (Ct. App. 1992) (co-defendants’ statements admissible “under the well-recognized exception to the hearsay rule that permits an out-of-court admission of a criminal defendant to be related by a witness to whom the admission was made”) (citing *State v. Shorter*, 85 S.C. 170, 171, 67 S.E. 131,

---

<sup>5</sup> The rule: “Rule 801(d) Statements Which are Not Hearsay. A statement is not hearsay if – (2) Admission by Party-Opponent. The statement is offered against a party and is (A) the party’s own statement in either an individual or representative capacity . . . .”

131 (1910)).<sup>6</sup> In the Fourth Circuit, Rule 801(d)(2)(A) applies to allow the admission of recorded telephone conversations.<sup>7</sup> The Rule has been interpreted to allow the two-way conversation into evidence, because both speakers' statements are "reasonably required to place [the defendant's] responses into context." *United States v. Wills*, 346 F.3d 476, 490 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003). "[S]o far as they constituted incriminating admissions," the entire call is admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(A) to make the statements "intelligible to the jury and recognizable as admissions." *Id.* (citing *United States v. Lemonakis*, 485 F.2d 941, 948 (D.C. Cir. 1973)).

Other jurisdictions have similarly applied Rule 801(d)(2)(A): "[s]tatements of a party opponent are admissible as substantive evidence if offered against that party." *State v. Tyler*, 196 Ohio App.3d 443, 452, 964 N.E.2d 12, 19 (Ohio 4<sup>th</sup> Dist. Ct. App. 2011). The phone call in *State v. Tyler* consisted of the defendant ascertaining whether the victim intended to testify against him at trial and apologizing, but not explicitly admitting to robbing the victim. *Id.* at 448, 964 N.E.2d at 16. That court pertinently held the call admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(A) because the defendant's "statements in the recording are admissions and are, by definition, not hearsay." *Id.* at 452, 964 N.E.2d at 19. Further, a defendant's statement amounts to relevant non-hearsay evidence where the statement is reasonably susceptible to multiple inferences. In *State v. Barone*, the trial court properly

---

<sup>6</sup> The fact that the statement was not admitted into evidence through the witness to whom the statement was related, but instead through a recorded jailhouse phone call does not affect its admissibility under the rule. *See, e.g. State v. Tucker*, 334 S.C. 1, 12-13, 512 S.E.2d 99, 105 (1999) (a defendant's prior statements from the guilt phase of his own trial have been deemed admissible during later courtroom proceedings pursuant to the rule at issue). The trial court admitted the phone call through its custodian pursuant to Rule 803(6), SCRE, the hearsay exception for records of regularly conducted activity.

<sup>7</sup> Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(A) is identical to the South Carolina Rule.

admitted an inmate's intercepted letter. 239 Or. 210, 237, 986 P.2d 5, 23 (Or. 1999). Even where defense counsel argued that the vagueness of the letter precluded its relevance, admissibility resulted from the possible "interpretation of the letter as a veiled request by defendant for another inmate to take steps to stop [a jailhouse informant] from testifying." *Id.* at 238, 986 P.2d at 24. Both the jailhouse letter in *Barone* and the present Appellant's jailhouse phone call to a friend constitute relevant non-hearsay evidence due to both defendants' statements' susceptibility to "an 'inference of consciousness of guilt' on the defendant's part." *Id.* (quoting the trial court's ruling). During the present call, the Appellant seeks information regarding whether law enforcement located a phone he used and searched for his DNA in the seized car. One may draw the reasonable inference from the call that the Appellant admitted his involvement in the crime to a friend, and sought help in determining whether law enforcement found direct evidence of the Appellant's presence at the scene of the crime. Therefore, the trial court properly admitted the Appellant's recorded phone call as a statement against a party-opponent because the call goes towards the issue of guilt.

Appellant cites *State v. Needs*, wherein a circumstantially incriminating statement was admissible under Rule 801(d)(2) as evidence of motive. 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998). In that case, the defendant killed his stepfather, which allowed his mother to collect on the victim's life insurance policies and loan the defendant start-up funds for his business. *Id.* The court admitted testimony "about the insurance policies and the potential loan from his mother as admissions by a party-opponent" under Rule 801(d)(2)(A). *Id.* at 150, 508 S.E.2d at 865. The court disagreed with defense counsel's contention that the circumstantially relevant and incriminating statement "created the illusion of a nexus"

between that appellant and the insurance policies he sought to collect as a result of the murder. *Id.* at 150-51, 508 S.E.2d at 865. Thus, the evidence properly bolstered the State's case. *Id.* Similar to *Needs*, the introduction of this jailhouse call is admissible because, from its context, the jury could reasonably infer that in light of all of the other evidence, the Appellant took part in the murder. Thus, the Appellant's opponent offers the statements made during the call against the Appellant and they are admissible as non-hearsay.

The 801(d)(2)(A) definition squarely fits the instant case. The case was prosecuted under the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. It matters not whether Defendant was the triggerman, only that he was present at the scene participating in the commission of the murder. Circumstantial evidence places the Appellant as the instigator. Testimony shows that the Appellant heatedly left the victim's home earlier that evening regarding an insufficient drug deal, that he was at the scene immediately prior to the victim's shooting having arrived in a Dodge Neon, and that he exited through the trailer's back door immediately prior to the shooting. Testimony also shows that the shooting occurred in the vicinity of that back door. Further, the Appellant's voice was identified as directing others to search the mobile home for money and drugs. The Appellant was seen getting into the driver's seat of a Dodge Neon and speeding off with others after the murder occurred. The Appellant resided at the home where law enforcement found the Dodge Neon. All of the above facts reasonably lend to Appellant's participation in the murder. The jailhouse phone call between the Appellant and a friend bolsters the same vein of circumstantial evidence. During the call, the Appellant acknowledges fear that law enforcement may be searching the Dodge Neon for DNA or

his phone, or a phone he used. (State's exhibit 99). Even if the Appellant was "merely speculating" as to the Neón's seizure, the Appellant calls seeking information from a friend regarding the potential evidence which may be collected against him. *Id.*; (Final Br. of Appellant, p. 15). Though made out-of-court, these statements are clearly not hearsay because they are made by the Appellant and, when taken together in the context of the case, are offered against him by the State to support an inference of guilt. Thus, the trial court properly admitted the call as a non-hearsay admission by a party-opponent pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE.

**B. Any error in the phone call's admission constitutes harmless error.**

Even if not properly excluded, Appellant cannot show prejudice since the phone call was cumulative to the State's circumstantial evidence case. Improperly admitted testimony will be found harmless error where that testimony is "cumulative to the other, properly admitted evidence[.]" *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 455, 462, 469 S.E.2d 49, 53 (1996); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result"). Factors to consider in determining harmless error are: "the importance of the witness's testimony to the prosecution's case, whether the witness's testimony was cumulative, whether other evidence corroborates or contradicts the witness's testimony, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the State's case." *State v. McLeod*, 362 S.C. 73, 83, 606 S.E.2d 215, 220 (Ct. App. 2004).

The phone call at issue merely points out that the Appellant may have left the phone he was using in the same car that witnesses connected him to during the murder's commission. The phone call offers no direct, independent statement of guilt, but instead merely bolsters the inference the State sought the jury to draw from the totality of its case. Thus, the recorded phone call is cumulative and its admission into evidence is harmless because other evidence supports the State's theory of the case. *See State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 320, 513 S.E.2d 606, 614 (1999) (exclusion of cumulative impeachment evidence held harmless error).

The absence of prejudice is underscored by the overwhelming proof of the Appellant's guilt based upon the foregoing strength of the State's circumstantial case. *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) (error "is harmless where a defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached").

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the appellant's convictions.